FILED

NOT 16 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 75,351 (TFB #89-10,262(06C) (TFB #89-10,308(06C)

v.

ROBERT K. HAYDEN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

RICHARD A. GREENBERG Attorney for Respondent Fla. Bar Wo. 0382371 Post Office Box 925 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 681-9848

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following references will be used in this brief:

Tr. = Transcript of final hearing (May 11, 1990).

RR = Report of Referee (August 9, 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On February 4, 1988, June Ferreri spoke to Robert K. Hayden about retaining him to represent her in a dissolution of marriage action. An Authority to Represent was signed by Mrs. Ferreri and Mr. Hayden on February 10, 1988. (Bar Ex. 1).

On May 3, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri returned to Mr. Hayden's office and paid him a retainer of \$500.00. (Bar Composite Ex. 4). Mr. Hayden then prepared and filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage on behalf of Mrs. Ferreri. In the petition, Mr. Hayden sought child support and lump sum alimony as directed by Mrs. Ferreri.

On July 11, 1988, a final hearing was held in <u>In Re The Marriage of June Ferreri</u>, <u>Petitioner</u>, and <u>Frank C. Ferreri</u>, <u>Respondent</u>, in the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, Florida, Circuit Civil Number 88-6815-16. Mr. Ferreri did not respond to the petition or appear for the final hearing. Mrs. Ferreri was awarded child support plus lump sum alimony in the amount of \$2,500.00. (Tr. page 11, line 11). The \$2,500.00 was the amount Mrs. Ferreri asked Mr. Hayden to seek on her behalf. (Tr. page 27, line 15).

Immediately after the final hearing of July 11, 1988, Mr. Hayden attempted to contact Mr. Ferreri to work-out an installment payment plan for the \$2,500.00. Mrs. Ferreri authorized Mr. Hayden to pursue payment of the lump sum alimony award in this manner. (Tr. page 27, line 24).

On July 25, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri secretly accepted a check in the amount of \$300.00 from her ex-husband, Frank Ferreri. 3). Mrs. Ferreri accepted the \$300.00 payment as payment in full of the \$2,500.00 lump sum alimony award procured (Bar Ex. 12). Mrs. Ferreri did not give Mr. by Mr. Hayden. Hayden a copy of the settlement agreement she entered into with ex-husband. (Tr. page 29, line 11). In her conversations with Mr. Hayden subsequent to July 25, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri failed to mention she had settled with her ex-husband. (See references to record below).

Since Mr. Hayden was unaware of the settlement reached between Mr. and Mrs. Ferreri, he prepared a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage awarding Mrs. Ferreri \$2,500.00 as lump sum alimony. (Bar Ex. 2). Mrs. Ferreri received a copy of the final judgment, (Tr. page 28, line 16), and failed to tell Mr. Hayden the court order should be amended to reflect the fact she had settled with Mr. Ferreri. (Tr. page 29, line 7).

Subsequent to entry of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage on August 16, 1988, Mr. Hayden continued to take steps to attempt to collect the \$2,500.00 for his client, Mrs. Ferreri. On September 7, 1988, Mr. Hayden asked Mrs. Ferreri if she wished to bring a contempt action against Mr. Ferreri for his failure to pay the lump sum alimony. (Tr. page 97, line 16). Mrs. Ferreri agreed to do so as long as she would not incur any additional fees. Mr. Hayden did not charge Mrs. Ferreri for preparing the motion for contempt. (Tr. page 32, line 19, and page 86, line 18). Again, Mrs. Ferreri failed to tell Mr. Hayden she had received \$300.00 as payment in full from Mr. Ferreri.

On September 14, 1988, Henry Winecker, an attorney from Mr. Hayden's office, spoke to Mrs. Ferreri. He first asked her if Mr. Ferreri was current in paying child support and whether Mr. Ferreri had paid the \$2,500.00 lump sum alimony. (Tr. page 30, lines 2 and 9). Mrs. Ferreri told Mr. Winecker she had received \$300.00 of the \$2,500.00, (Tr. page 30, line 21), but she did not tell him the \$300.00 had been accepted as payment in (Tr. page 31, line 1). Mr. Winecker then told Mrs. full. Ferreri Mr. Hayden was going to proceed with a motion for contempt against Mr. Ferreri. (Tr. page 67, lines 8-13). Notice of Date of Action was sent to Mrs. Ferreri confirming her conversation with Mr. Winecker. (Bar Ex. 7). Mrs. Ferreri received the notice, but did not contact Mr. Hayden to tell him she had settled for \$300.00. (Tr. page 31, line 18).

On September 16, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri filed a complaint with The Florida Bar against Mr. Hayden. (Resp. Ex. 1). The complaint failed to mention that the \$300.00 received by Mrs. Ferreri was payment in full. The complaint also failed to mention Mrs. Ferreri's conversation with Mr. Winecker.

Mr. Hayden again spoke with Mrs. Ferreri on September 19, 1988, about the upcoming hearing on the motion for contempt. (Tr. page 33, line 20 - page 34, line 4 and page 88, lines 11-23). Mrs. Ferreri did not tell Mr. Hayden she had accepted \$300.00 as payment in full from Mr. Ferreri. In addition, Mrs. Ferreri did not tell Mr. Hayden on September 19, 1988, that she did not wish to proceed with the motion for contempt. (Tr. page 88, line 20).

Finally, on September 26, 1988, the day before the scheduled hearing on the motion for contempt, Mr. Hayden learned for the first time that Mrs. Ferreri had secretly settled with Mr. Ferreri for \$300.00. (Tr. page 89, line 2). Mr. Hayden then immediately cancelled the hearing on the motion for contempt. (Tr. page 51, lines 16-19, and page 89, line 9).

On April 11, 1989, the Sixth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" found probable cause for further disciplinary proceedings in this case. The complaint of The Florida Bar was filed on January 18, 1990. The Honorable Morrison Buck was then assigned as referee on February 14, 1990.

A final hearing was held on May 11, 1990. Final arguments were heard on July 30, 1990. The report of referee sought to be reviewed was served on August 9, 1990. The petition for review in this case was filed on October 19, 1990.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The referee made several findings of fact which are erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. The referee found that, subsequent to July 25, 1988, respondent was contacting Mr. Ferreri in an effort "at least secondarily to recover his legal fees from the proceeds." (RR, p.2). No witness provided any testimony to support this finding. In fact, several portions of the record show the erroneous nature of the aforementioned finding of fact.

The referee's findings of fact (5) and (6) are also erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. In regard to finding of fact (5), the testimony of Mrs. Ferreri and the respondent was basically consistent about the events up and to September 1988. The main divergence in their testimony relates to whether Mrs. Ferreri authorized the respondent to proceed with a motion for contempt against Mr. Ferreri.

When the totality of the circumstances is considered, Mrs. Ferreri's testimony is inconsistent and illogical. Thus, the referee's finding of fact (5) is not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

The referee's finding of fact (6) is also not supported by clear and convincing evidence. The referee appears to have ignored the testimony of Henry Winecker and Bar Exhibit 7 in reaching this finding.

Finally, the referee found that the respondent cancelled the hearing on the motion for contempt <u>after</u> meeting with the

Ferreris. (RR, Sec. II-7, p.2). This finding is totally unsupported by the record and is diametrically opposed to the testimony of the Bar's own witness, Frank Ferreri. The referee's clearly erroneous finding on this point colored his entire view of the respondent's conduct in this case.

II. A. The referee recommended that the respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.2(a), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Since the referee's recommendation was influenced by his mistaken impression that the respondent was motivated by a desire to "enhance recovery" of respondent's fees, this recommendation is not supported by clear and convincing evidence. In addition, since the respondent did not actually proceed with a hearing on the motion for contempt, Rule 4-1.2(a) does not apply in this case.

The respondent is guilty of, at most, failure to communicate clearly with his client. Mrs. Ferreri, however, failed to provide the respondent with critical information which would have influenced the respondent's entire course of conduct. This lack of disclosure by Mrs. Ferreri caused the respondent to take steps, at no charge to Mrs. Ferreri, he otherwise would not have taken.

B. Rule 4-3.1, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, was not violated by the respondent in this case. The intent of the rule is to sanction lawyers who bring frivolous proceedings, not those who fail to follow the directions of their client.

The motion for contempt filed by the respondent was not frivolous under the facts of the underlying dissolution of marriage action. Since the lump sum alimony award was in the nature of support, the respondent had a good faith argument for bringing a contempt action to enforce the trial court's order.

III. A six-month suspension from the practice of law is clearly not warranted in this case. The respondent's conduct, even taking his prior disciplinary record into consideration, is not so egregious as to merit such a severe sanction.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions show a public reprimand is the appropriate discipline in this case. A public reprimand is also supported by prior cases of this Court.

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL, OR UNJUSTIFIED

Respondent is well aware of the presumed correctness of the referee's findings of fact, the burden respondent must overcome, and the clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support standard. The Florida Bar v. Colclough, 561 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1990) (rules and cases cited therein). Nevertheless, respondent believes several of the referee's findings of fact are erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified.

The referee found that, subsequent to July 25, 1988, respondent was contacting Mr. Ferreri in an effort "at least secondarily to recover his legal fees from the proceeds." (RR, p.2). There is absolutely no support in the record for this finding by the referee. No witness testified that respondent was seeking recovery of the court-ordered lump sum alimony in order to recover his legal fees.

The following points show the erroneous nature of the aforementioned finding of fact. First, the authority represent entered into between respondent and Mrs. Ferreri does not provide that Mr. Ferreri would in any way be liable for respondent's fees. (Bar Ex. 1). Likewise, the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage did not provide that Mr. Ferreri would be liable for respondent's fees. (Bar Ex. 2). Second, even if respondent had successfully collected the full lump sum alimony award for Mrs. Ferreri, he still may have had to resort to a lawsuit to recover his fees if Mrs. Ferreri would not voluntarily pay him. Finally, respondent clearly was motivated by a desire to recover the money for Mrs. Ferreri as evidenced by the fact he did not charge her for anything other than a few telephone conferences after July 25, 1988. (Bar Ex. Composite 4, Tr. page 32, line 19, and page 86, line 18).

One of the central issues in this case is whether Mrs. Ferreri authorized respondent to proceed with a motion for contempt against Mr. Ferreri for his failure to pay the lump-sum alimony. Although the testimony on this issue was in conflict, respondent submits the referee's findings of fact (5) and (6) (RR, p.2), are not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

The testimony of Mrs. Ferreri and the respondent is basically consistent about the events up and to September 1988. The main conflict in their testimony begins with a telephone conversation on either September 7, 1988, (Tr. page 87, line 11 and Bar Composite Ex. 4), or September 9, 1988. (Tr. page 19, line 5). The respondent testified Mrs. Ferreri authorized him to proceed with a motion for contempt against Mr. Ferreri for failure to pay the \$2500.00 lump sum alimony award. (Tr. page 87, line 19). Mrs. Ferreri testified she did not want respondent to proceed with a motion for contempt because she did not want to incur "any more attorney's fees." (Tr. page 20, line 9). It is clear, however, that up to this point the respondent had been seeking recovery of the lump sum alimony with Mrs. Ferreri's authorization. (Tr. page 35, line 6).

The totality of the circumstances supports the respondent's version of the events which occurred in September 1988. If the respondent had truly been motivated by a desire to "enhance recovery", (RR, sec. III, p.3), of his fees, he would

have charged Mrs. Ferreri for preparation of the motion for contempt. In addition, as will be discussed below, the respondent certainly would not have dismissed the motion for contempt prior to meeting with the Ferreris to discuss his fees.

The referee found that "Mrs. Ferreri instructed respondent not to proceed with the contempt proceeding, with her primary motivation being to avoid incurring any additional lawyer's fees." (RR, p.2). Respondent testified that as early as August 15, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri authorized him to seek to hold Mr. Ferreri in contempt for failure to pay the alimony. (Tr. page 87, line 2). On September 7, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri again told respondent to "go ahead" with the contempt motion. (Tr. page 87, line 19). Both respondent and Mrs. Ferreri testified she was not charged any additional fees for respondent's efforts in filing for contempt. (Tr. page 32, line 19 and page 86, line 18).

The referee's finding of fact (6) totally ignores the testimony of Henry Winecker and Bar Exhibit 7. Mr. Winecker testified he spoke to Mrs. Ferreri on September 14, 1988, and told her respondent was going forward with the motion for contempt. (Tr. page 67, lines 8-13). Mrs. Ferreri did not tell Mr. Winecker she did not want the motion for contempt filed. (Tr. page 67, line 14). Bar Exhibit 7 is consistent with the above-referenced testimony of Mr. Winecker.

Mrs. Ferreri received Bar Exhibit 7 shortly after her conversation with Mr. Winecker. (Tr. page 31, line 6). Even though the Notice of Date of Action clearly indicated a Motion for Contempt had been filed and that her testimony was required,

(Bar Ex. 7), Mrs. Ferreri took no steps to tell respondent he was proceeding against her wishes. (Tr. page 31, lines 7-25 and page 32, lines 1-6).

Perhaps the most erroneous finding of the referee, one on which the entire finding regarding respondent's motivation in pursuing the contempt action relies, (RR, Sec. III, p.3), is that "[t]he hearing on the contempt motion was <u>later</u> cancelled by respondent." (RR, Sec. II-7, p.2) (emphasis supplied).

Mr. Ferreri's testimony on this point was clear and unequivocal:

- Q Now, that September 27, 1988, the day that you went to Mr. Hayden's office, wasn't that the same day that had been scheduled for the hearing on the motion for contempt?
- A Yes.
- Q Did that hearing go forward?
- A No. He had called it off like the day before because I called the courthouse to find out if it was cancelled. I called the courthouse up the day before and found out it was cancelled.

(Tr. page 51, lines 10-19).

Respondent's testimony was consistent with Mr. Ferreri's, and diametrically opposed to the referee's finding:

- A But on the 26th was the first time that I found out about any kind of quote, settlement.
- Q Okay.
- A In September --
- Q When you found out that they had settled it and that contempt was not a viable action did you cancel the hearing?
- A Yes --
- Q Just listen to me. Did you cancel the hearing before the Ferreris came in to offer any kind of payment?
- A That's true.

(Tr. page 89, lines 2-12).

As will be more thoroughly discussed in Section II below, the erroneous finding by the referee in II-7 was the main reason respondent was found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.2(a) and, more particularly, Rule 4-3.1, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. When this erroneous finding is overturned, complainant's case against respondent is mortally wounded.

- II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-1.2(a) AND RULE 4-3.1, RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR, IS NOT SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.
 - A. The Referee's Recommendation That Respondent Be Found Guilty of Violating Rule 4-1.2(a), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, Is Not Supported by Clear and Convincing Evidence.

The referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.2(a) "for failure to abide by the client's decision not to proceed with the contempt proceedings." (RR, Sec. III, p.2). This recommendation is not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

As noted in Section I above, the referee's finding that respondent cancelled the contempt hearing after meeting with Mr. and Mrs. Ferreri in his office on September 27, 1988, was erroneous. The referee's mistaken impression on this critical point colored the referee's entire view of respondent's conduct. Since respondent cancelled the contempt hearing as soon as he learned Mrs. Ferreri had secretly accepted \$300.00 as payment in full of the lump sum alimony, (Tr. page 89, line 9), and before he met with the Ferreris to discuss his outstanding fees, (Tr. page 89, line 12), respondent clearly was not motivated by a desire to "enhance recovery" of his fees.

The evidence below shows that the Ferreris, <u>not</u> the respondent, were motivated by monetary concerns. On August 26, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri prepared her initial complaint to The Florida Bar. (Resp. Ex. 1). In this complaint, Mrs. Ferreri only complained about the fees being charged by the respondent.

On September 14, 1988, Mrs. Ferreri evidently added references to the motion for contempt to her grievance. (Resp. Ex. 1, page 2). It is significant that Mrs. Ferreri fails to mention in this complaint that she spoke with Mr. Winecker. The grievance also makes it appear Mrs. Ferreri has just decided to accept \$300.00 as payment in full from Mr. Ferreri, as opposed to accepting it on July 25, 1988.

When the entire record in this case is examined closely, several questions arise which are not satisfactorily answered by the report of referee. First, if Mrs. Ferreri did, in fact, tell respondent on September 9, 1988, not to proceed with the contempt motion, why didn't she tell this to Mr. Winecker on September 14, 1988, or to the respondent on September 19, 1988? Also, why did Mrs. Ferreri wait until the day before the hearing on the motion for contempt was scheduled to take place to tell the respondent she had secretly entered into an agreement with her ex-husband?

The evidence below establishes that respondent is guilty of, at most, failure to communicate clearly with his client. Mrs. Ferreri testified she told respondent not to proceed with a motion for contempt against her ex-husband. (Tr. page 19, line 2). Yet she failed on numerous occasions to tell respondent she had settled for \$300.00 as payment in full of the lump sum alimony obligation. Mrs. Ferreri's failure to advise respondent of this critical fact caused him to follow the directions he received from Mrs. Ferreri after the July 11, 1988, hearing, (Tr. page 27, line 24), and seek the full \$2,500.00 on her behalf. If respondent had been told a settlement had been reached between

the Ferreris, he would not have exerted his energies, at no charge to Mrs. Ferreri, (Tr. page 32, line 19 and page 86, line 18), in seeking the motion for contempt. (Tr. page 68, line 7).

Respondent, on the other hand, testified Mrs. Ferreri authorized the filing of the motion for contempt on several different occasions. (Tr. page 87, lines 2-3, 19-20 and page 88, line 20). Mrs. Ferreri also had a detailed conversation with Henry Winecker from respondent's office and never voiced disapproval of the contempt action. (Tr. page 67, lines 4-15).

Even assuming Mrs. Ferreri did not authorize the filing of the motion for contempt, respondent should not be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.2(a) because he did not proceed with the motion. As soon as respondent learned the Ferreris had reached their secret agreement, he immediately cancelled the contempt hearing. (Tr. page 51, line 16 and page 89, line 9). If respondent had truly filed the motion for contempt in order to "enhance recovery of the fees claimed by and perhaps due respondent", (RR, Sec. III, p.3), as opposed to filing it because of a lack of clear communication with his client, he certainly would not have dismissed the motion prior to meeting with the Ferreris.

B. The Referee's Recommendation That Respondent Be Found Guilty of Violating Rule 4-3.1, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, Is Contrary To the Provisions of The Rule.

The referee recommended respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 4-3.1, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, "for initiating the contempt proceeding without authority from the client." (RR, Sec. III, p.2). This recommendation is contrary to both the express provisions of the rule and the law in Florida.

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