IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 75,351

TFB Nos. 89-10,262 (06C)

89-10,308(06C)

Desputy Cark

v.

ROBERT K. HAYDEN,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

OF

THE FLORIDA BAR

SUSAN V. BLOEMENDAAL Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite 9-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 347175

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- The Referee's Findings of Fact are neither erroneous, I. unlawful, or unjustified. The record is replete with evidence upon which the Referee could base his conclusion that Mr. Hayden's actions were motivated by a desire to recover his legal fees. The totality of the circumstances supports, with clear and convincing evidence, the Referee's conclusions that Ms. Ferreri never authorized or requested Mr. Hayden to proceed with contempt proceedings against Mr. Frank Ferreri. The Referee, as finder of fact, is best able to assess the credibility of all witnesses and assign appropriate weight to their testimony. The Report of Referee is a reflection of these assessments. The Florida Bar concedes that the record does not support that part of the Referee's finding which indicates that the hearing on the Motion for Contempt was canceled after the September 27, 1988 meeting between Mr. Hayden and Mr. and Mrs. Ferreri. (RR, Section II-7, It is clear from the record that the hearing was canceled by Respondent on September 26, 1988.
- II. A. The Referee's finding of guilt as to Rule 4-1.2(a) is fully supported by the record. Respondent initiated contempt proceedings after his client directed him not to proceed. Respondent's representation of June Ferreri was concluded with entry of the Final Judgment, and Ms. Ferreri was under no obligation to provide Mr. Hayden with any information concerning subsequent dealings with her former husband.

B. Mr. Hayden violated both the spirit and the letter of Rule 4-3.1 by filing frivolous proceedings against Frank Ferreri. These proceedings were filed after being advised by Mr. Ferreri that a settlement had been entered into between the parties. Further, lump sum alimony, which is not in the nature of support, may not be enforced by a contempt action. Respondent was well advised that the lump sum alimony award was based on June Ferreri's Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollar (\$2,500.00) contribution for a down payment on the marital home. There was never any indication that this lump sum alimony award was for the purpose of support.

III. The Referee's recommendation of a six (6) month suspension takes into consideration the seriousness of the misconduct, the fact that Respondent's primary motivation was his own self-interest, and Respondent's considerable disciplinary record. A six (6) month suspension is both appropriate and is supported by the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and previous decisions of this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE NEITHER ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL, OR UNJUSTIFIED.

The Referee's findings of fact come to this Court cloaked in a presumption of correctness and should be upheld absent the showing that the findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Colclough, 561 So.2d 1147, 1150 (Fla. 1990) (rules and cases cited therein).

Respondent challenges the Referee's findings that the initiation of contact by Respondent with Mr. Ferreri was done in an effort "at least secondarily to recover his legal fees from the proceeds." (RR, p. 2). The record is replete with evidence upon which the Referee could base such a conclusion. It is clear from the record that June Ferreri still owed fees to the Respondent at the time the dissolution of marriage was granted. (R, Bar Composite Exhibit #4). Mr. Hayden's own response to The Florida Bar, in pertinent parts, states as follows:

"Mr. Ferreri's wife retained me on February 10, 1988 to represent her in a dissolution action. I prepared the petition and served same on Mr. Ferreri, seeking chiefly child support and lump sum alimony for Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars (\$2,500.00) representing her equity in the marital home which had been sold by the husband. Any amounts owed by her to this office, above and beyond her initial retainer amount, she desired to pay out of the Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollar (\$2,500.00) lump sum alimony."

(Emphasis supplied).

"It is important to note that she is requesting I get this <u>not only to get her attorney's fees</u> but, also, wanted that amount, as he had kept it from the sale of their home and was not happy with him about that. After

Final Judgment was entered, I phoned her to tell her I would prepare the final bill--I noted to her that nothing had been sent to her since the May 31 bill and the time would be put together and sent to her. At this point, she told me that she had no money and didn't know how long it would take to pay. I thought about the \$2,500.00, and she said she would never get it unless I forced it under contempt. I told her I would file it and would not charge her attorney's fees for the post-judgment motion. She never said not to do it, as there was (sic) two ways to go. Per our written agreement, she could pay me and was required to do so within ten days of billing. The second way was her request -- she would pay once she got the money from her ex-husband. Consequently, she told me to file the contempt as long as she did not have to pay any further attorney's fees and I could collect it from her exhusband. I agreed." (Emphasis supplied). (R, Bar Exhibit #11)

Respondent's own letter to The Florida Bar indicates that his client had advised him that she had no money to pay the remaining balance of fees owed to Respondent. Mr. Hayden, quite clearly, recognized the Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollar (\$2,500.00) lump sum alimony obligation as a source for payment of these fees. Additionally, the Motion for Contempt/ Notice of Hearing requests the award of attorney's fees and costs for bringing that motion. (R, Bar Exhibit #5). Respondent apparently expected to recoup the cost of bringing a contempt proceeding through a court-ordered award of attorney's fees against Frank Ferreri.

In further support of the Referee's findings is Frank Ferreri's testimony concerning the harassing and intimidating character of telephone calls from Mr. Hayden to Frank Ferreri, some of which took place even before the Final Judgment had been signed. (TR, p. 46, 1. 3). Respondent called Frank Ferreri repeatedly at his place of employment. (TR, p. 48, 1. 4). The

purpose of these telephone calls was to pressure Mr. Ferreri into paying the lump sum alimony to June Ferreri. Even after being advised by Mr. Ferreri that the lump sum alimony obligation had been settled, Mr. Hayden proceeded to file a Motion for Contempt. (TR, p. 48, l. 10). Only after Frank Ferreri promised to come to Respondent's office to take care of the fee owed by June Ferreri did Respondent cancel the hearing on the Motion for Contempt. (TR, p. 49, l. 18; TR, p. 50, l. 17; and TR, p. 52, l. 10).

Frank Ferreri testified that Mr. Hayden admitted to him being primarily motivated by securing payment of his fees. (TR, p. 49, 1. 24; and TR, p. 50, 1. 1).

Bills submitted to June Ferreri clearly show charges by Mr. Hayden after the Final Hearing. The Final Hearing took place on July 11, 1988, and Respondent's bills indicate telephone calls and other work done after July 11, 1988. Several charges by Respondent indicate that these charges related to telephone calls to his client and to "opposing attorney." (R, Bar Exhibit #4). Respondent's August 31, 1988 and September 27, 1988 bills to June Ferreri list four (4) dates containing a description of fees charged to June Ferreri.

Although the authority to represent entered into by June Ferreri and Mr. Hayden on February 10, 1988 indicates that the purpose of the retention was to obtain a dissolution of marriage, Mr. Hayden continued to charge June Ferreri for work done after the dissolution of marriage was concluded. (R, Bar Exhibit #1). No further agreement, oral or written, was made between June Ferreri and Robert Hayden with regard to further representation.



At the Final Hearing in this matter, June Ferreri testified that she considered Mr. Hayden's representation of her to be concluded on the date of the Final Hearing in the dissolution of marriage action. (TR, p. 36, 1. 21).

No charges for preparation of the Motion for Contempt/Notice of Hearing were reflected on bills to June Ferreri because, according to Respondent's own testimony, he intended to pursue payment of fees for those services through the Motion for Contempt. (TR, p. 86, 1. 5).

- II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-1.2(a) AND 4-3.1, RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR, IS SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.
 - A. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING 4-1.2(a), RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR, IS SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

During the course of the Final Hearing before the Referee, testimony was heard concerning whether or not Mr. Hayden had been authorized by June Ferreri to proceed with contempt proceedings for collection of lump sum alimony. There can be no doubt, from examination of the transcript of record, that this testimony is conflicting. The Referee, however, as finder of fact, is in a unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses based on their demeanor and other factors which might influence testimony. For this reason, the Referee's findings are cloaked in a presumption of correctness. The Florida Bar v. Colclough, 561 So.2d 1147, 1150 (Fla. 1990) (rules and cases cited therein).

The only individuals with personal knowledge as to whether there was authorization for Mr. Hayden to proceed with contempt proceedings are June Ferreri and Robert Hayden. Both of these individuals testified at the Final Hearing before Judge Morison Buck. Judge Buck had an opportunity to observe both witnesses during their testimony and make determinations concerning their credibility. Judge Buck's findings were as follows:

"On or about September 9, 1988, Respondent contacted Mrs. Ferreri to inquire whether or not she wanted him to petition for contempt of Court against Mr. Ferreri for nonpayment of the alimony. Mrs. Ferreri instructed Respondent not to proceed with the contempt proceeding, with her primary motivation being to avoid incurring any additional lawyer's fees . . .

Nevertheless, Respondent proceeded with the contempt proceeding, serving the husband on September 14, 1988 with notice of the action for non-payment of the alimony judgment." (RR, Section II, par. 5, 6, p. 2)

Mrs. Ferreri testified before Judge Buck that she wanted the dissolution of marriage to be over and done with as of July 11, 1988. (TR, p. 20, 1. 12). According to Mrs. Ferreri's testimony, she agreed to allow Respondent to call her former husband on the date of the final hearing in the dissolution. (TR, p. 35, 1. 6). Mrs. Ferreri further testified that on September 9, 1988, she specifically told Mr. Hayden not to file a contempt proceeding and that she told him not to do anything further until she contacted him. (TR, p. 35, 1. 13-19). Mrs. testified before the Referee that she never advised Mr. Hayden she wanted to pursue a contempt action, that she never told him to initiate contempt proceedings, and, specifically, that she advised him not to pursue a Motion for Contempt against her (TR, p. 18, 1. 16-25; and TR, p. 19, 1. 1-11). former husband.

In Mr. Ferreri's testimony before the Referee, he stated he had been advised by June Ferreri that she had instructed Respondent not to file a Motion for Contempt. (TR, p. 49, 1.5-13).

The Referee apparently placed little weight on the testimony of Mr. Winecker. Mr. Winecker testified that, at the time of the Final Hearing, he shared office space with Mr. Hayden in a building owned by Mr. Hayden. (TR, p. 66, l. 15-18). Additionally, Mr. Winecker testified that he occasionally

received work from Mr. Hayden. The Referee was entitled to assess Mr. Winecker's credibility based on this information concerning Mr. Winecker's business relationship with Mr. Hayden.

With regard to the substance of Mr. Winecker's testimony concerning his September 14, 1988 telephone conversation with June Ferreri, Respondent asserts that June Ferreri was under some obligation to advise Mr. Winecker concerning her previous settlement with Mr. Ferreri. Clearly, Ms. Ferreri was under no such obligation. Mr. Hayden was no longer her attorney, their professional relationship had ceased when the dissolution of marriage was entered. Further, Ms. Ferreri had never retained Mr. Winecker in any capacity. She was under no obligation to volunteer any information concerning her personal or Ms. Ferreri responded truthfully to Mr. Winecker's affairs. question, that Mr. Ferreri was current on his child support payments and he had paid Three Hundred and 00/100 Dollars (\$300.00) of the Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollar (\$2,500.00) lump sum alimony amount. (TR, p. 67, 1. 8).

According to Mr. Winecker's testimony under cross-examination, Ms. Ferreri never asked him to go forward with the Motion for Contempt. (TR, p. 71, 1. 19-23). Although Mr. Wineckar testified that he mentioned a Motion for Contempt in his telephone call to June Ferreri, her testimony contradicts this. She testified that Mr. Winecker did not mention anything about a Motion for Contempt. (TR, p. 30, 1. 15).

Arguments made to the Referee and in Respondent's Initial

Brief indicate that he is attempting to shift the burden to June Ferreri for not having advised him of a settlement in full with regard to the lump sum alimony obligation. Once an attorney/ client relationship has concluded, the client is under no obligation to continue to provide the attorney with information of any sort. Clearly, the decision rests with a client whether or not to pursue post-judgment proceedings, and Ms. Ferreri testified before the Referee that she instructed respondent not to go forward with contempt proceedings.

Despite repeated urgings on the part of Mr. Hayden, June Ferreri elected not to pursue contempt proceedings against her former husband. She had the absolute right to make this decision, and Mr. Hayden was obligated to accede to his client's wishes in this regard. Mr. Hayden advised his client of options available to her concerning pursuit of the lump sum alimony obligation. Ms. Ferreri elected not to avail herself of these options. Instead, she entered into an agreement with her former husband to settle the obligation in full for a payment of Three Hundred and 00/100 Dollars (\$300.00).

In his Initial Brief, Respondent has characterized the agreement between June and Frank Ferreri as a "secret" agreement. This characterization is totally unsupported by the record. There is no testimony or evidence of any kind to suggest that any of the parties involved attempted to keep secret the settlement agreement between June and Frank Ferreri. In fact, Mr. Ferreri testified that, when contacted by Mr. Hayden after the settlement had been entered into, he immediately advised Mr. Hayden that



there had been a settlement, that there was a signed settlement agreement, and the matter was over. (TR, p. 48, 1. 10). Mr. Hayden filed the Motion for Contempt after being informed that the settlement had been reached. (TR, p. 48, 1. 19). The hearing on the Motion for Contempt was canceled only after Mr. Ferreri promised to come to Respondent's office to pay June Ferreri's outstanding fee. (TR, p. 49, 1. 18; and TR, p. 51, 1. 16-22).

B. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING 4-3.1, RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR, WAS AN APPROPRIATE FINDING OF GUILT.

Rule 4-3.1 states as follows:

"A lawyer shall not bring or defend a proceeding, or assert or controvert an issue therein, unless there is a basis for doing so that is not frivolous, which includes a good faith argument for an extension, modification or reversal of existing law. . ."

The Referee found that Respondent had violated this disciplinary rule by initiating contempt proceedings without authority from his client. (RR, Section III, p. 2).

The finding of quilt is also supported for reasons other than those explicitly stated in the Report of Referee. Hayden initiated a contempt proceeding after being told that the lump sum alimony obligation no longer existed. His own client had, in the words of the Referee, given him "instructions to desist from taking such action in the first instance." (RR, Section III, p. 3). The opposing party had advised Mr. Hayden that the matter had been fully settled and that a settlement agreement had been executed. There is nothing in the record to indicate that Mr. Hayden ever questioned June Ferreri about Frank concerning the settlement. Instead. Ferreri's assertion Respondent filed a Motion for Contempt without determining whether the matter had, in fact, been settled.

As a matter of law, the Motion for Contempt was a frivolous pleading because it attempted to enforce a lump sum alimony payment through contempt. Riley v. Riley, 509 So.2d 1366 (Fla.

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